ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Saluda County

Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
JUN 29 2015
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

STEVEN OTTS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-000274

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial judge err in failing to direct a verdict of acquittal in Appellant's favor where the state failed to present substantial circumstantial evidence of malice, a necessary element of murder?
- II. Did the trial judge err in failing to tailor the self-defense instruction to the evidence presented, including evaluating the deceased's intoxication and size to determine the existence of a threat, the reasonableness of the belief of the threat posed, and the amount of force necessary to repel the threat?
- III. Did the trial judge err in instructing the jury on the law of defense of others where the instruction served only to confuse the jury because Appellant was not asserting defense of others as a defense to the charged offense and the instruction concerned the conduct of the deceased?
- IV. Did the trial judge err in failing to provide the specific and clarifying instruction to the jury that an unintentional killing resulting from an unlawful assault and battery not of a character of itself to cause death is involuntary manslaughter?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 4, 2011, a Saluda County grand jury indicted Appellant for murder (2011-GS-41-288). R. 429 - 430. The state, represented by Ervin J. Maye and H. Franklin Young, called the case for trial on July 22, 2013 before the Honorable Thomas A. Russo and a jury. Tristan M. Shaffer and Catherine T. Johnson represented Appellant. R. 1. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 409, lines 9-12. Judge Russo sentenced Appellant to thirty years' imprisonment. R. 411, lines 19-25; R. 431. Appellant filed a written motion for new trial on August 3, 2013. R. 421. By an order filed on January 30, 2014, Judge Russo denied the motion for new trial. R. 428.

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On January 27, 2011, Lakeisha Stallworth, Antonio Valentine, Saca Jawea Coleman, and Appellant were together in Ridge Springs, South Carolina. R. 23, line 21 – R. 26, line 6. Although there was some dispute concerning how long the foursome had been together and their activities, the evidence indicated at least some of them had been drinking alcohol. R. 29, line 24 – R. 30, line 4; R. 40, lines 2-24; R. 201, lines 2-17; R. 203, lines 4-8; R. 174, lines 1-10. Traveling in Valentine’s truck, the four went to Orchard Park Apartments, where Appellant resided.¹ R. 27, lines 12-22; R. 174, line 25 – R. 175, line 9; R. 202, lines 16-22. Upon their arrival, Appellant and his girlfriend, Coleman, began arguing because Appellant wanted Coleman to go home with him, but Coleman wanted to continue partying. R. 30, lines 15-22; R. 38, lines 6-7; R. 175, lines 17-21; R. 184, lines 18-25; R. 190, lines 5-21; R. 191, lines 7-16; R. 192, lines 2-16; R. 203, lines 11-21.

Stallworth claimed Appellant was “kind of aggressive” with Coleman while the foursome remained in the truck. R. 30, line 24. Stallworth further claimed that Appellant was “pulling” on Coleman to get her out of the truck. R. 31, lines 8-23. According to Stallworth, Appellant pulled Coleman’s coat over her head, leaving her only in a bra because she was not wearing a shirt under her coat. R. 32, lines 2-11; R. 42, lines 12-19.² Appellant then got out of the truck and walked to Coleman’s side, but Coleman had locked the door. R. 32, lines 15-24. Stallworth claimed Valentine then instructed Coleman and Stallworth to get out of his truck and they did; however, Stallworth was forced to admit that

¹ Appellant resided with Jane Burno and Charles Rayford, who were the aunt and uncle of Hydrick Burno, the deceased. R. 199, lines 15-18.

² Coleman contradicted Stallworth by explaining that she was wearing a shirt, was not wearing a jacket, and Appellant did not pull off her clothing. R. 175, line 22 – R. 176, line 8.

she had not been truthful with the jury regarding this testimony. In fact, Stallworth had informed the police that she had remained in Valentine's truck until after Appellant struck Burno. Stallworth had lied to the jury because Valentine did not want to be involved. R. 33, lines 2-10; R. 49, line 14 – R. 52, line 11. Coleman and Appellant continued to argue outside the truck. R. 33, lines 21-25. Hydrick Burno, a mutual friend and resident at the apartment complex, intervened. Burno was highly intoxicated. R. 33, lines 18-20; R. 34, lines 3-13; R. 133, lines 7-18.³

Angela Creech, another resident at the apartment complex, heard noise and yelling outside of her apartment. R. 59, lines 4-8; R. 68, lines 19-21. At the instigation of others, Creech, who had "a couple of beers or something," walked outside her apartment and upstairs to observe. R. 59, lines 11-24; R. 69, lines 8; R. 72, lines 8-10. Creech claimed she could see Appellant and Coleman "arguing and tussling inside the vehicle." R. 61, lines 3-7. She further claimed that from the second story balcony, she could hear "licks" inside the moving car. R. 61, line 23 – R. 62, line 4; R. 68, lines 22-25; R. 69, lines 6-18. According to Creech, Appellant was pulling on Coleman to get her out of the vehicle and the two were "tussling and fighting." R. 62, lines 20-24.

Coleman testified that when the foursome arrived at Orchard Apartments, Appellant wanted her to get out of the truck, but she was not ready to go because she had not "finished partying yet." R. 175, lines 10-13. She admitted the two argued, but she emphatically denied that Appellant assaulted her in any way. R. 175, lines 17-21; R. 184, lines 18-25; R. 190, lines 5-21; R. 191, lines 7-16; R. 192, lines 2-16. Appellant also denied hitting

³ When he was admitted to the hospital, his blood alcohol level was 0.274. At the time of the autopsy, Burno's blood alcohol level was 0.15. R. 133, lines 3-18.

Coleman, but he admitted the two argued. R. 203, line 13 – R. 204, line 2. When he grabbed Coleman’s arm to escort her out of the truck, she jerked away and refused to exit. R. 204, lines 3-25.

Stallworth did not remember Burno putting his hands on Appellant. R. 34, lines 6-8; R. 34, lines 14-16; R. 35, lines 11-16; R. 37, lines 8-9; R. 43, lines 14-22. However, Creech testified that Burno put his hand around Appellant and held him in a “bear hug.” Further, Creech claimed Appellant said to Burno, “When you let me go, I’m going to knock your punk ass out.” R. 63, lines 4-11; R. 74, lines 6-8. Additionally, Coleman testified that Burno, who was significantly larger than Appellant, “kept grabbing” Appellant. R. 177, lines 3-13. She heard Appellant tell Burno that if Burno did not let him go, he was going to hit him, but she did not see Appellant hit Burno because of her location. R. 177, lines 14-24. Appellant also testified that Burno, who was obviously intoxicated, was grabbing him and pulling him. R. 207, line 5; R. 208, lines 12-22. Then, Burno grabbed Appellant in a “bear hug” and carried him away from the truck. R. 207, lines 8-23. Appellant admitted telling Burno he was going to hit him if he did not let him go. R. 209, lines 2-14. When Appellant wiggled from Burno’s bear hug, he walked back to the truck. R. 209, line 17. Burno grabbed Appellant again, ripping his coat. Appellant turned and struck Burno once to get away from him. R. 210, line 6 – R. 211, line 2; R. 227, lines 13-25. Appellant never meant to hurt Burno. R. 211, lines 15-20; R. 228, lines 1-2.

Everyone, including Appellant, agreed that Appellant hit Burno and Burno fell to the ground unconscious. R. 34, lines 1-5; R. 63, lines 13-16. Everyone also agreed that Appellant was surprised that Burno was knocked out. In disbelief of Burno’s actual injuries, Appellant instructed Burno to “get up” and “stop playing.” R. 36, lines 5-9; R. 44, lines 5-

18; R. 64, lines 11-17; R. 181, lines 17-18; R. 212, line 5 – R. 213, line 8. Thereafter, Appellant left the area. R. 36, lines 12-19; R. 65, lines 20-24; R. 181, line 18; R. 215, lines 15-16.

When the police and emergency services arrived at the apartment complex, Burno was awake and sitting on the curb. He was swaying and “a little confused.” Due to strong smell of alcohol on Burno, the medical personnel were unsure if the swaying and confusion were the result of the injury or intoxication. R. 81, lines 11-13; R. 82, lines 12-24; R. 155, lines 13-18; R. 162, lines 12-20. However, during the transport of Burno to Lexington Medical Center, Burno’s behavior changed – he became combative and uncooperative. Burno also showed more persistent signs of confusion leading the medical personnel to believe he had suffered a more serious head injury than initially thought. R. 85, line 10 – R. 86, line 21.

Shortly after his admission to the hospital on January 27, 2011, Burno died. R. 101, lines 18-23. According to the pathologist, Burno died from brain herniation due to cerebral edema, which was caused by blunt-force trauma to the left side of Burno’s head. R. 117, line 20 – R. 118, line 3. The pathologist was clear that Burno’s death was the result of the blow to the left side of his head and not the injury he suffered when he fell to the ground. R. 129, lines 8-25. Appellant stipulated to the cause of death as well. R. 121, line 19 – R. 122, line 6. Further, the pathologist testified that Burno suffered only two blows to the head, one caused injury to the left side and one caused injury to the back when he fell to the ground. R. 130, line 10-13.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial judge erred in failing to direct a verdict of acquittal in Appellant's favor where the state failed to present substantial circumstantial evidence of malice, a necessary element of murder.

Relevant facts

At the conclusion of the prosecution's case, Appellant moved for a directed verdict based upon the prosecution's failure to present any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence of malice. R. 143, lines 5-7; R. 143, lines 16-20. The trial judge denied the motion: "And in this case there is evidence in the record, depending on how the jury will view that evidence, regarding comments allegedly made by the defendant while this process was going on and whether the jury believes those - - those statements or - - or what weight they give to those statements is certainly, I think, a jury issue." R. 143, lines 8-12; R. 143, line 21 – R. 144, line 9.

At the conclusion of the defense's case, Appellant renewed his motion for a directed verdict based on the lack of evidence of malice. R. 266, lines 23-25. The trial judge again denied the motion, finding "it's a question of fact for the jury to decide, based on the testimony regarding what - - what - - what may have been - - what allegedly had been said, whether they believe certain witnesses versus the other witnesses." R. 267, lines 1-8.

Discussion

A defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the prosecution fails to provide evidence of the offense charged. State v. Brown, 103 S.C. 437, 88 S.E. 21 (1916); State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 292, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006); State v. McHoney, 344 S.C. 85, 97 544 S.E.2d 30, 36 (2001). Only "[i]f there is any direct evidence or any substantial

circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused,” the trial judge may deny the motion for directed verdict. State v. Lollis, 343 S.C. 580, 584, 541 S.E.2d 254, 256 (2001); State v. Pinckney, 339 S.C. 346, 349, 529 S.E.2d 526, 527 (2000); State v. Martin, 340 S.C. 597, 533 S.E.2d 572 (2000).

When the prosecution relies exclusively on circumstantial evidence, the trial judge must direct a verdict in the defendant’s favor unless there is any substantial circumstantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the defendant or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced. State v. Bostick, 392 S.C. 134, 139, 708 S.E.2d 774, 776 (2011); State v. Mitchell, 341 S.C. 406, 535 S.E.2d 126 (2000). Likewise, a directed verdict is appropriate when the evidence produced “merely raises a suspicion the accused is guilty.” Lollis, 343 S.C. at 584, 541 S.E.2d at 256; State v. Arnold, 361 S.C. 386, 389-390, 605 S.E.2d 529, 531 (2004); State v. Schrock, 283 S.C. 129, 132, 322 S.E.2d 450, 451-452 (1984); State v. Muhammed, 338 S.C. 22, 524 S.E.2d 637 (Ct. App. 1999). Our courts define suspicion as “a belief or opinion as to guilt based upon facts or circumstances which do not amount to proof.” Lollis, 343 S.C. at 584, 541 S.E.2d at 256; State v. Hyder, 242 S.C. 372, 131 S.E.2d 96 (1963).

Murder is “the killing of any person with malice aforethought, either express or implied.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-10. “Malice has been defined as the wrongful intent to injure another and indicates a wicked or depraved spirit intent on doing wrong.” State v. Johnson, 291 S.C. 127, 128, 352 S.E.2d 480, 481 (1987); see also Tate v. State, 351 S.C. 418, 426, 570 S.E.2d 522, 527 (2002). The Supreme Court of Pennsylvania held that death resulting from a single blow where the parties were approximately equal in size and had been drinking together for hours was insufficient to warrant the inference of legal malice.

Commonwealth v. Thomas, 594 A.2d 300, 303 (Pa. 1991); see also Commonwealth v. MacArthur, 629 A.2d 166, 169 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1993)(finding a single push following a verbal and physical confrontation insufficient to support a finding of malice); Pine v. People, 455 P.2d 868, 869 (Colo.1969)(explaining “[i]t is quite true that ordinarily a mere blow with the fist does not imply malice or an intent to kill”).

The state was required to present direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant’s act of punching Burno one time was done with the wrongful intent to injure Burno and with a wicked or depraved spirit intent on doing wrong. The state simply failed to present substantial circumstantial evidence of malice where Appellant struck the deceased only once with his bare fist. Appellant was not in a dispute with the Burno when Burno approached him and grabbed him. Rather, Appellant was arguing with his girlfriend, Coleman. Appellant bore no ill-will against the deceased; in fact, all of the evidence indicated the two were friends. Furthermore, Appellant was smaller than Burno. After the punch, Appellant went to the deceased in disbelief that the deceased could have suffered a serious injury resulting from the single punch. Appellant’s conduct before, during, and after the single punch do not evidence a person acting with a wicked or depraved spirit intent on doing wrong.

In denying the directed verdict motion, the trial judge relied upon Creech’s claim that Appellant told Burno that he was going to knock him out. However, the alleged statement failed to show Appellant acted with hatred toward Burno. At worst, the evidence demonstrated that Appellant wanted Burno to stop interfering and would strike Burno to defend himself. Quite simply, the state failed to present substantial circumstantial evidence of malice.

II. The trial judge erred in failing to tailor the self-defense instruction to the evidence presented, including evaluating the deceased's intoxication and size to determine the existence of a threat, the reasonableness of the belief of the threat posed, and the amount of force necessary to repel the threat.

Relevant facts

The undisputed evidence was that Burno was significantly larger than Appellant and Burno was highly intoxicated at the time of his death. According to the pathologist, Burno “was around 200 pounds and ... 69 inches.” R. 135, lines 1-4. Coleman estimated that Burno weighed “two-something” and was approximately five-feet and eleven inches tall. R. 177, lines 9-13. Appellant testified that Burno was bigger and stronger than he. R. 207, lines 18-23.⁴ The emergency medical personnel smelled alcohol on Burno when they arrived to administer aid to him. R. 81, lines 11-13; R. 82, lines 12-24; R. 155, lines 13-18; R. 162, lines 12-20. When Burno was admitted to the hospital, his blood alcohol level was 0.274. At the time of the autopsy, Burno’s blood alcohol level was 0.15. R. 133, lines 3-18.

During the charge conference, Appellant requested a jury instruction on self-defense tailored to the facts and circumstances surrounding the incident and the individuals involved. R. 268, line 7 – R. 269, line 14; R. 416. Appellant asked the judge to instruct the jury that “the relative sizes, ages, and weights of the defendant and the victim may be considered in deciding the apparent or actual need for force in self-defense” and that “the

⁴ The incident report described Appellant as five-feet and eight inches tall and weighing one hundred and seventy pounds. R. 413.

intoxication of the victim may be considered in deciding whether the defendant's fear of bodily injury was reasonable." R. 416.

The trial judge instructed the jury concerning self-defense; however, he failed to instruct the jury regarding Appellant's specific requests concerning consideration of the relative sizes, ages, and weights of the defendant and the victim and consideration of the victim's intoxication. After instructing the jury that "[s]elf-defense is a complete defense" and that "[t]he state has the burden of disproving self-defense by proof beyond a reasonable doubt," the judge went through the four elements of self-defense. He briefly addressed the first element that a defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty. He then turned to the second and third elements regarding imminent danger and the reasonableness of believing one was in imminent danger. Concerning these elements, he instructed the jury that self-defense required the defendant to be in imminent danger of death or serious bodily injury or to believe such. R. 402, line 25 – R. 403, line 24.

He further instructed:

If the defendant was actually in imminent danger, it must be shown that the circumstances would have warranted a person of ordinary firmness and courage to strike the fatal blow to prevent death or serious bodily injury. If the defendant believed he was in imminent danger of death or serious bodily injury, it must be shown that a reasonably prudent person of ordinary firmness and courage would have had the same belief.

R. 403, line 25 – R. 404, line 7. Next, he charged the jury that "[i]n deciding whether the defendant actually was or believed he was in imminent danger ... [the jury] should consider all the facts and the circumstances surrounding the crime, including the physical condition and the characteristics of the defendant and of the victim." R. 404, lines 8-13. Later, he instructed the jury that "[t]he defendant has the right to act on appearances even though the defendant's beliefs may be mistaken." R. 404, lines 18-19.

He completed the self-defense instruction by informing the jury of the fourth element regarding avoiding the danger and covered the limitations on the degree of force used. R. 404, line 24 – R. 405, line 15.

Discussion

The South Carolina Supreme Court has long held that a trial judge has the responsibility to craft a self-defense charge tailored to the facts of a case. State v. Brandt, 393 S.C. 526, 549, 713 S.E.2d 591, 603 (2011); State v. Fuller, 297 S.C. 440, 444-45, 377 S.E.2d 328, 331 (1989). As recognized in Fuller, there is a “body of common law self-defense” and trial judges must “consider the facts and circumstances of the case at bar in order to fashion an appropriate charge.” Fuller, 297 S.C. at 443, 377 S.E.2d at 330.

In Fuller, the defendant solicited a prostitute. Id. at 441, 377 S.E.2d at 329. However, when the pair arrived at the prostitute’s trailer, they discovered it was occupied. The defendant then left. Id. When the defendant later returned to the prostitute’s trailer, he found a car driven by a white woman was blocking the road. Id. The defendant asked her to move her car. Id. Two men approached the defendant’s car and asked him “what he was ‘trying to do to that white lady.’” Id. One of the men used a racial slur and grabbed the defendant by the throat. Id. at 441, 377 S.E.2d at 329-30.

The defendant fired a warning shot allowing him to drive away. Unbeknownst to the defendant, the street was a dead end. Id. at 442, 377 S.E.2d at 330. Due to the men blocking his escape, the defendant ultimately crashed his car against a rail. Id. The two men yelled, “we’re going to take care of you.” Id. The defendant thought he saw something shiny in one of the men’s hands and fired four shots at them, killing both. Id. No gun was found on the men. Id.

The trial judge only instructed the jury on the basic elements of self-defense. Id. The Court held it was error to only give the general charge when the defendant “repeatedly requested additional charges.” Id. at 443, 377 S.E.2d at 330. The Court found the trial judge erred by not giving three specific charges on self-defense that further explained the principles in the general charge. First, the trial judge failed to charge the jury that the defendant had the right to act on appearances. Id. at 443-44, 377 S.E.2d at 330-31(citing State v. Jackson, 277 S.C. 271, 87 S.E.2d 681 (1955)). Second, the trial judge failed to charge the jury that “words accompanied by hostile acts, may, depending on the circumstances, establish a plea of self-defense.” Id. (citing State v. Harvey, 220 S.C. 506, 68 S.E.2d 409 (1951)). Third, the trial judge failed to charge that an individual has no duty to retreat “if by doing so he would increase his danger of being killed or suffering serious bodily injury.” Id. (citing State v. Hardin, 114 S.C. 280, 103 S.E. 557 (1920)).

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