ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Saluda County
Honorable Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

STEVEN OTTS,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2014-000274

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN MCINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

ANTHONY MABRY
Assistant Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-6305

DONALD V. MYERS
Solicitor, 11th Judicial Circuit
205 E. Main Street
Lexington, SC 29072

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

JUN 10 2015

SC Court of Appeals

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

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

sufficient evidence of malice, both express and implied, to overcome the motion for a directed verdict. As a result, Judge Russo did not abuse his discretion, in denying the motions for a directed verdict on this record. Judge Russo did not err in denying the motions for a directed verdict. Heyward; Bell; Kelsey; Johnson. This appellate ground has no merit and must be denied and dismissed.

ARGUMENT II.

This issue is not preserved for appellate review because the issue raised to this Court was not raised to the trial court; further, Judge Russo's instruction on self-defense adequately covered the law, and there was no prejudice to Otts because he was not entitled to a self-defense instruction on this record; and, any failure to charge was harmless.

What Occurred Below

At the charge conference, Otts requested Judge Russo instruct the jury on the defense of self-defense. Though Judge Russo had some question whether the defense was applicable under these facts, since there was no threat of death or serious bodily injury to the defendant, out of an abundance of caution, Judge Russo instructed the jury on the defense of self-defense. (R. pp. 267-280, 295-300, 301-22, 402-05, Tr. pp. 448-61, 479-84, 485-506, 588-91). Otts did not object to Judge Russo's charge on self-defense because he did not adequately tailor his self-defense instruction to the facts of the case. Appellant now alleges Judge John did not appropriately craft his instruction on self-defense to the facts of the case. Respondent submits this issue is not preserved for appellate review; and, furthermore, there is no merit to this issue.

Lack of Preservation of this Issue

This issue is not preserved for appellate review. Below there was no objection that Judge Russo failed to tailor his self-defense charge to the facts of the case as raised on appeal. (See BOA). This issue is not preserved for appellate review and must be dismissed with prejudice. Wilder Corp. v. Wilkie, 330 S.C. 71, 497 S.E.2d 731 (1998); Smith v. Phillips, 318 S.C. 453, 458 S.E.2d 427 (1995); State v. Powers, 331 S.C. 37, 501 S.E.2d 116 (1998); State v. Varvil, 338 S.C. 335, 526 S.E.2d 248 (Ct. App. 2000).

The Merits

Standard of Review

The conduct of a criminal trial is left largely to the discretion of the trial judge, and this Court will not interfere unless the rights of the appellant were prejudiced. State v. Bridges, 278 S.C. 447, 298 S.E.2d 212 (1982). Therefore, this Court reviews errors of law only and is bound by the trial court's factual determinations unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 625 S.E.2d 216 (2006). A trial court's decision regarding jury charges will not be reversed where the charges, as a whole, properly charged the law to be applied. State v. Rye, 375 S.C. 119, 651 S.E.2d 321 (2007). If the instructions given to the jury afford the proper test for determining the issues, the failure to give one side's requested instructions is not prejudicial. State v. Hughey, 339 S. C. 439, 529 S.E.2d 721 (2000).

Jury Charges

"The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial." State v. Cole, 338 S.C. 97, 101, 525 S.E.2d 511, 512 (2000). "An appellate court will not reverse the trial judge's decision regarding a jury charge absent an abuse of discretion." State v. Mattison, 388 S.C. 469, 479, 697 S.E.2d 578, 584 (2010). "To warrant reversal, a trial judge's refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant." Mattison, 388 S.C. at 479, 697 S.E.2d at 583.¹⁴

¹⁴ If there is any evidence to warrant a jury instruction, a trial court must, upon request, give the instruction. State v. Smith, 391 S.C. 408, 706 S.E.2d 12 (2011). The refusal to grant a requested jury charge that states a sound principle of law applicable to the case at hand constitutes an error of law. State v. Bryant, 391 S.C. 225, 705 S.E.2d 465 (Ct. App. 2011). A trial court commits error when it fails to give a requested charge on an issue raised by the evidence presented. State v. Lee, 298 S.C. 362, 380 S.E.2d 834 (1989). The court has a duty to charge the jury as to the law applicable to the facts brought out in the testimony. State v. West, 138 S.C. 421, 136 S.E. 736 (1927).

In order to be entitled an instruction on the law of self-defense, the defendant must produce some evidence or some evidence must be presented at trial establishing the elements of self-defense. State v. Bryant, 336 S.C. 340, 344, 520 S.E.2d 319, 321 (1999)(A self-defense charge is not required unless supported by the evidence); State v. Goodson, 312 S.C. 278, 440 S.E.2d 370 (1994)(same).¹⁵ “If there is any evidence in the record from which it could reasonably be inferred the defendant acted in self-defense, the defendant is entitled to instructions on the defense, and the trial judge’s refusal to do so is reversible error.” State v. Light, 378 S.C. 641, 650, 664 S.E.2d 465, 469 (2008). “Because all of the elements are required to establish self-defense . . . [i]t is an axiomatic principle of law that [self-defense] has not been established if any one element is disproven.” In re Tracy B., 391 S.C. 51, 704 S.E.2d 71 (Ct.App. 2011), *quoting* State v. Bixby, 388 S.C. 528, 554, 698 S.E.2d 572, 586 (2010). A self-defense charge is not required unless supported by the evidence. State v. Bryant, 336 S.C. at 344, 520 S.E.2d a 321; Goodson.

A judge is not bound to instruct a jury in the exact language of a request made; it is sufficient if he does so substantially in his own language. State v. Clary, 222 S.C. 549, 73 S.E.2d 681 (1952); State v. Roof, 106 S.C. 281, 91 S.E. 314 (1917); State v. Jones, 101 S.C. 111, 85 S.E. 240 (1915); State v. Harris, 282 S.C. 107, 674 S.E.2d 532 (Ct. App. 2009). A judge’s charge to a jury is sufficient if, as a whole, it is substantially correct and covers the law applicable to the case. State v. Burton, 302 S.C. 494, 397 S.E.2d 90 (1990); State v. Jackson, 297 S.C. 523, 377 S.E.2d 570 (1989); State v. Rabon, 175 S.C. 459, 272 S.E.2d 634 (1980). Furthermore, it is the substance of the law which must be charged to the jury, not any particular

¹⁵ See State v. Bruno, 322 S.C. 534, 536, 473 S.E.2d 450, 452 (1996)(defendant was not entitled to a self-defense charge where he presented no evidence he believed he was in imminent danger when he shot the victim).

verbiage. State v. Burkart, 350 S.C. 252, 565 S.E.2d 298 (2002); State v. Rabon, 275 S.C. 459, 272 S.E.2d 634 (1980); State v. Zeigler, 364 S.C. 94, 610 S.E.2d 859 (Ct. App. 2005). The propriety of a jury charge is measured by what a reasonable juror would have understood the charge to mean. State v. Bell, 305 S.C. 11, 406 S.E.2d 165 (1991). A jury charge which is substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal. State v. Foust, 325 S.C. 12, 479 S.E.2d 50 (1996); State v. Hoffman, 312 S.C. 386, 440 S.E.2d 869 (1994). Where a requested charge is not given, both error and prejudice must be shown. State v. Gaines, 380 S.C. 23, 31, 667 S.E.2d 728, 732 (2008); State v. Huckabee, 388 S.C. 232, 694 S.E.2d 781 (Ct. App. 2010), *cert. denied*. See Smith v. Winningham, 252 S.C. 464, 166 S.E.2d 825 (1969).

Lack of Merit of this Issue

Regardless of the lack of preservation of this issue, this appellate issue has no merit. Judge Russo instructed jury on the defense of self-defense. (R. pp. 402-05, Tr. p. 588, l. 25 – p. 591, l. 15). The instruction appropriately covered the law. (R. pp. 402-05, Tr. pp. 588-91). State v. Rivera, 389 S.C. 399, 699 S.E.2d 157 (2010). When reviewing a jury charge for alleged error, the charge must be considered as a whole in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial. State v. Huckabee, 388 S.C. 232, 694 S.E.2d 781 (Ct. App. 2010); Daves v. Cleary, 355 S.C. 216, 224, 584 S.E.2d 423, 427 (Ct. App. 2003). If the jury charge is reasonably free from error, isolated portions which might be misleading do not constitute reversible error and the charge is considered correct if it contains the correct definition and adequately charges the law. *Id.*, *citing Cleary, supra*. “The test for the sufficiency of a jury charge is what a reasonable juror would have understood the charge to mean.” State v. Benjamin, 345 S.C. 470, 474, 549 S.E.2d 258, 260 (2001); *cited in State v. Huckabee*, 388 S.C. 232, 244, 694 S.E.2d 781, 787 (Ct. App. 2010). Judge Russo’s charge on self-defense in this case adequately covered the law in this case,

including consideration of “the physical condition and the characteristics of the defendant and the victim.” (R. pp. 402-05, 404, Tr. p. 588-91, 590, ll. 8-13). There is no merit to this appellate issue.

Furthermore, Otts was not entitled to self-defense instruction on this record. Judge Russo could not have erred nor can Otts show prejudice resulting from the charge.

Self-defense

The elements of self-defense are as follows: (1) the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty; (2) the defendant must have been in actual imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he must have actually believed he was in actual danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury; (3) if his defense is based on his belief of imminent danger, the defendant must show that a reasonably prudent person of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the belief that he was actually in imminent danger and that the circumstances were such that would warrant a person of ordinary prudence, firmness and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to save himself from serious bodily harm or loss of his life; and (4) the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger. If however the defendant was on his own premises he has no duty to retreat before acting in self-defense. State v. Rivera, 389 S.C. 399, 699 S.E.2d 157 (2010).¹⁶ See State v. Wood, 1 S.C.L. (1 Bay)(1794)(key to self-defense is the defendant can only respond with proportionality).

Otts was not entitled to an instruction on self-defense so there could be no prejudice from the self-defense instruction. Davis, supra.¹⁷ See Bruno (the defendant was not entitled to a self-

¹⁶ Citing State v. Davis, 282 S.C. 45, 46, 317 S.E.2d 452, 453 (1984). See also State v. Frasier, 401 S.C. 224, 736 S.E.2d 301 (Ct. App. 2013).

¹⁷ See Tate v. State, 308 S.C. 163, 417 S.E.2d 553 (1992)(where there is no evidence to suggest defendant believed she was in imminent danger of loss of life at the time she killed, counsel’s failure to secure expert on self-defense was not ineffective assistance because the defense was

defense charge where he presented no evidence that he believed he was in imminent danger when he shot the victim); Goodson (same). The record shows the victim was only trying to stop the domestic violence *or* argument [if the defendant and his girlfriend are believed] between Otts and Otts' girlfriend. Otts was not without fault in bringing on the difficulty, and Otts was not in danger of death or serious bodily injury nor would a reasonable person have been in fear of death or serious bodily injury. State v. Fuller, 297 S.C. 440, 442-43, 377 S.E.2d 328, 330 (1989).¹⁸ Otts had a duty to retreat, and he was not attempting to retreat, but attempting to re-engage his girlfriend in their dispute. State v. Brown, 321 S.C. 184, 467 S.E.2d 922 (1996); State v. Chambers, 310 S.C. 43, 425 S.E.2d 45 (Ct. App. 1992).¹⁹ Further, Otts could have avoided any danger by simply ceasing to assault or argue with this girlfriend Coleman, rather than delivering a ferocious blow to the victim's head fracturing his skull. "It is an axiomatic principle of law that the defense has not been established if any one element is disproven." State v. Williams, 400 S.C. 308, 733 S.E.2d 605 (Ct. App. 2012), *quoting* Bixby, 388 S.C. at 554, 698 S.E.2d at 586. Otts *failed to present* any evidence retreating would have increased the danger to himself. And, *there was no evidence in the record* retreating would have increased the danger to Otts. Frasier;

not applicable).

¹⁸ See State v. Wiggington, 375 S.C. 25, 649 S.E.2d 185 (Ct. App. 2007)(defendant was not entitled to self-defense instruction where he did not show a reasonable person would have feared serious bodily harm or loss of life based on the victims words or actions); State v. Lee, 293 S.C. 536, 362 S.E.2d 24 (1987)(finding on the facts of that case any belief in the necessity of using deadly force was unreasonable as a matter of law; consequently holding the court did not err in failing to instruct on defense of habitation, and noting defendant *was not* entitled to self-defense instructions he did receive); State v. Chatman, 336 S.C. 149, 519 S.E.2d 100 (1999)(defendant was not in imminent danger; defendant could have left and avoided any danger; defendant was at fault in bringing on the difficulty; and a reasonably prudent person would not have thought he was in imminent danger; the evidence does not support that defendant was acting in self-defense; therefore, he could not have been acting lawfully, and he was not entitled to accident charge).

¹⁹ "It is one's duty to avoid taking human life where it is possible to prevent it even to the extent of retreating from his adversary unless by doing so the danger of being killed or suffering serious bodily harm is increased or it is reasonably apparent that such danger would be increased." Frasier, *citing* State v. Jackson, 227 S.C. 221, 279, 87 S.E.2d 681, 685 (1955).

Jackson. As a result, Otts was not entitled to an instruction on self-defense. Rivera, supra. There could be no prejudice to Otts from the self-defense instruction he was not entitled to. This appellate ground has no merit and must be dismissed.

Harmless Error

Even assuming *arguendo* Otts was somehow entitled to the specific self-defense instruction he now alleges he should have received, the failure to do so was harmless under the particular facts of this case. See State v. Middleton, 407 S.C. 312, 755 S.E.2d 432 (2014)(finding harmless error analysis is appropriate for the failure to charge a lesser included offense); State v. Battle, 408 S.C. 109, 757 S.E.2d 737 (Ct. App. 2014)(same).²⁰ The failure to give the specific self-defense language, which Otts now argues, was harmless where Otts' version of events was so preposterous and non-credible and the evidence of guilt was so overwhelming that the jury would not have accepted the same and acquitted him of murder even had that specific language been charged. State v. Bryant, 369 S.C. 511, 633 S.E.2d 152 (2006). "When considering whether an error with respect to a jury instruction was harmless, we must 'determine beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict.'" Middleton, supra, quoting State v. Kerr, 330 S.C. 132, 144-45, 498 S.E.2d 212, 218 (Ct. App. 1998). "In making a harmless error analysis, our inquiry is not what the verdict would have been had the jury been given the correct charge, but whether the erroneous charge contributed to the verdict rendered." Id., citation omitted. "Thus, whether or not the error was harmless is a fact intensive inquiry." Id. A fact intensive inquiry shows the trial court's not charging the self-defense

²⁰ Our appellate courts have previously held the refusal to charge the jury with a requested instruction is subject to harmless error analysis. State v. Lee-Grigg, 374 S.C. 388, 649 S.E.2d 41 (Ct. App. 2007), affirmed 387 S.C. 310 (2010); State v. Jeffries, 316 S.C. 13, 21, 446 S.E.2d 427, 431 (1994)(harmless error analysis is appropriate where the error complained of is a "trial error" rather than a "structural defect" in the trial mechanism itself). See also Lee-Grigg, Toal, C.J. concurring. Contra Light; Lee.

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